



**SUPPLEMENT DATED 22 NOVEMBER 2019  
TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS DATED 17 JULY 2019**

**SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE**

as Issuer and Guarantor  
(incorporated in France)

and

**SG ISSUER**

as Issuer  
(incorporated in Luxembourg)

**SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE  
EFFEKTEN GMBH**

as Issuer  
(incorporated in Germany)

## **Leveraged and Tracking Products Issuance Programme**

This supplement (hereinafter the **Supplement**) constitutes a supplement for the purposes of Article 13.1 of the Luxembourg act dated 10 July 2005 on prospectuses for securities (the **Luxembourg Prospectus Act 2005**) in connection with Article 64 of the Luxembourg law dated 16 July 2019 on prospectuses for securities, as amended (*Loi relative aux prospectus pour valeurs mobilières*, the **Luxembourg Prospectus Act 2019** and together with the Luxembourg Prospectus Law 2005, the **Luxembourg Prospectus Act**) to the Leveraged Products Issuance Programme base prospectus dated 17 July 2019 (hereinafter the **Base Prospectus**) and approved by (a) the *Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier* (hereinafter the **CSSF**) on 17 July 2019 in accordance with Article 7 of the Luxembourg Prospectus Law 2005 implementing Article 13 of the Directive 2003/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 4 November 2003 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading and amending Directive 2001/34/EC (the **Prospectus Directive**) as amended (which includes the amendments made by Directive 2010/73/EU (the **2010 PD Amending Directive**)) and (b) by the SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd (**SIX Swiss Exchange**) pursuant to its listing rules.

The purpose of this Supplement is to:

- incorporate by reference the English version of the 2019 interim financial statement of SG Issuer and amend the sections "SUMMARY", the German version of the Summary, "DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE" and "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER" accordingly;
- update the section "RISK FACTORS";
- correct and update the section "TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS";
- correct and update the section "TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GERMAN LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS"; and
- correct Condition 2.4.2 of the section "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO SECURED LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS".

This Supplement completes, modifies and must be read in conjunction with the Base Prospectus and the first supplement dated 13 September 2019.

Full information on the Issuers and the offer of any Leveraged and Tracking Products is only available on the basis of the combination of the Base Prospectus, the first supplement dated 13 September 2019 and this Supplement.

Unless otherwise defined in this Supplement, terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the relevant Terms and Conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products set forth in the Base Prospectus.

To the extent that there is any inconsistency between (i) any statement in this Supplement and (ii) any other statement in the Base Prospectus, the statements in (i) above will prevail.

In accordance with Article 13.2 of the Luxembourg Prospectus Act 2005, investors, who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for the securities before this Supplement is published, have the right, exercisable within a time-limit of two business days after the publication of this Supplement (no later than 26 November 2019) to withdraw their acceptances.

The amendments included in this supplement shall only apply to final terms, the date of which falls on or after the approval of this supplement.

## AMENDMENTS TO THE BASE PROSPECTUS

### I. CHANGES IN SECTION "SUMMARY"

- (i) In the section "SUMMARY", Element B.12 ("*Selected historical key financial information regarding the issuer*") on pages 11 and 12, the tables relating to the selected historical key information with regard to Société Générale and SG Issuer are updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

B.12	Selected historical key financial information regarding the issuer	[If the Issuer is Société Générale:			
		Half Year # 2019 (unaudited)	Half Year # 2018 (unaudited)	Year ended 31.12.2018 <sup>(2)</sup> (audited)	Year ended 31.12.2017 (audited)
		<b>Results (in millions of euro)</b>			
		12,475	12,748	25,205	23,954
		2,838	3,238	6,269	4,767
		2,332	2,590	4,468	4,491
		1,740	2,127	3,864	2,806
		590	635	1,237	1,059
		979	970	2,065	1,939
		414	673	1,197	1,593
		(243)	(151)	(635)	(1,785)
		(578)	(378)	(1,005)	(1,349)
		9.1%	11.0%	9.7%	9.6%
		14.8%	13.6%	13.7% (3)	13.8%
		<u>Cash flow statements (in millions of euros)</u>			
		<u>2,839</u>	<u>(29,832)</u>	<u>(17,617)</u>	<u>18,023</u>
		<u>Half Year # 2019 (unaudited)</u>	<u>Half Year # 2018 (unaudited)</u>	<u>Year ended 31.12.2018<sup>(2)</sup> (audited)</u>	<u>01.01.2018* (audited)</u>
		<b>Activity (in billions of euros)</b>			
		1,388.6	1,298.0	1,309.4	1,274.2*
		438.3	427.3	447.2	417.4*
		412.9	415.1	416.8	410.6*
		<b>Equity (in billions of euros)</b>			
		<del>623.54</del>	<del>59.060.1</del>	61.0	<del>589.49*</del>
		4.7	4.4	4.8	4.5*
		<del>Cash flow statements (in millions of euros)</del>			

			Net-inflow (outflow) in-cash and cash equivalent	(2,839)	(29,832)	(17,617)	18,023																									
		<p># These financial information are subjected to a limited review.</p> <p>* The consolidated balance sheet totalled EUR 1,309 billion at December 31<sup>st</sup>, 2018 (EUR 1,274 billion at January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2018, EUR 1,275 billion at December 31<sup>st</sup>, 2017). Balances at January 1<sup>st</sup>, 2018 after first time application of IFRS 9 except for subsidiaries in the insurance sector (unaudited).</p> <p>** These financial ratios are neither audited nor subjected to a limited review.</p> <p>(1) Adjusted for exceptional items and linearisation of IFRIC 21.</p> <p>(2) The presentation of the Group's consolidated income statement is modified as from 2018 following the transition to IFRS 9:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>- income and expenses from insurance activities are grouped on a specific line item within the "Net banking income";</li> <li>- the line item "Cost of risk" is now exclusively dedicated to credit risk;</li> </ul> <p>(3) Taking into account the option of a dividend payment in shares, with the assumption of a 50% subscription rate (impact of +24bp on the CET1 ratio).</p> <p><del>There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since 31 December 2018.</del></p> <p><del>There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 30 June 2019.</del></p> <p>[If the Issuer is SG Issuer:</p> <table border="1"> <thead> <tr> <th>(in K€)</th> <th>Half year 30.06.2019 (non audited)</th> <th>Year ended 2018 (audited)</th> <th>Half year 30.06.2018 (non audited)</th> <th>Year ended 2017 (audited)</th> </tr> </thead> <tbody> <tr> <td>Total Revenue</td> <td><u>33,557</u></td> <td>68,302</td> <td><u>29,760</u></td> <td>92,353</td> </tr> <tr> <td>Profit before tax</td> <td><u>350</u></td> <td>251</td> <td><u>148</u></td> <td>105</td> </tr> <tr> <td>Profit for the financial period/year</td> <td><u>263</u></td> <td>187</td> <td><u>126</u></td> <td>78</td> </tr> <tr> <td><b>Total Assets</b></td> <td><b><u>55,465,073</u></b></td> <td><b>49,362,650</b></td> <td><b><u>49,149,860</u></b></td> <td><b>48,026,909</b></td> </tr> </tbody> </table> <p>]</p>						(in K€)	Half year 30.06.2019 (non audited)	Year ended 2018 (audited)	Half year 30.06.2018 (non audited)	Year ended 2017 (audited)	Total Revenue	<u>33,557</u>	68,302	<u>29,760</u>	92,353	Profit before tax	<u>350</u>	251	<u>148</u>	105	Profit for the financial period/year	<u>263</u>	187	<u>126</u>	78	<b>Total Assets</b>	<b><u>55,465,073</u></b>	<b>49,362,650</b>	<b><u>49,149,860</u></b>	<b>48,026,909</b>
(in K€)	Half year 30.06.2019 (non audited)	Year ended 2018 (audited)	Half year 30.06.2018 (non audited)	Year ended 2017 (audited)																												
Total Revenue	<u>33,557</u>	68,302	<u>29,760</u>	92,353																												
Profit before tax	<u>350</u>	251	<u>148</u>	105																												
Profit for the financial period/year	<u>263</u>	187	<u>126</u>	78																												
<b>Total Assets</b>	<b><u>55,465,073</u></b>	<b>49,362,650</b>	<b><u>49,149,860</u></b>	<b>48,026,909</b>																												

- (ii) In the section "SUMMARY", Element B.12 on page 13, the item relating to the "Significant changes in the Issuer's financial or trading position subsequent to the period covered by the historical financial information" is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"[If the Issuer is ~~SG-Issuer-or~~ Société Générale Effekten GmbH:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 31 December 2018.]

[If the Issuer is Société Générale or SG Issuer:

Not Applicable. There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 30 June 2019.]"

## II. CHANGES IN THE GERMAN VERSION OF THE SUMMARY (*Zusammenfassung*)

- (i) In the section "ZUSAMMENFASSUNG", Element B.12 ("*Ausgewählte wesentliche historische Finanzinformationen über den Emittenten*") on pages 31 and 32, the tables relating to the selected historical key information with regard to Société Générale and SG Issuer are updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted::

B.12	Ausgewählte wesentliche historische Finanzinformationen über den Emittenten	[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale ist:			
		Halbjahr # 2019 (ungeprüft)	Halbjahr # 2018 (ungeprüft)	Geschäftsjahr zum 31.12.2018 <sup>(2)</sup> (geprüft)	Geschäftsjahr zum 31.12.2017 (geprüft)
	<b>Ergebnis (in Mio. EUR)</b>				
	Banknettoeinkommen	12.475	12.748	25.205	23.954
	Betriebsergebnis	2.838	3.238	6.269	4.767
	Zugrundeliegendes Nettoeinkommen der Gruppe <sup>(1)</sup>	2.332	2.590	4.468	4.491
	Ausgewiesenes Nettoeinkommen der Gruppe	1.740	2.127	3.864	2.806
	<i>French Retail Banking</i>	590	635	1.237	1.059
	<i>International Retail Banking &amp; Financial Services</i>	979	970	2.065	1.939
	<i>Global Banking and Investor Solutions</i>	414	673	1.197	1.593
	<i>Corporate Centre</i>	(243)	(151)	(635)	(1.785)
	Nettorisikokosten	(578)	(378)	(1.005)	(1.349)
	Zugrundeliegende ROTE** <sup>(1)</sup>	9,1%	11,0%	9,7%	9,6%
	Tier 1 Ratio **	14,8%	13,6%	13,7% (3)	13,8%
	<u>Kapitalflussrechnungen (in Mrd. EUR)</u>				
	<u>Mittelzufluss (-abfluss) von Zahlungsmitteln und Zahlungsmitteläquivalenten</u>	<u>2.839</u>	<u>(29.832)</u>	<u>(17.617)</u>	<u>18.023</u>
		<u>Halbjahr # 2019 (ungeprüft)</u>	<u>Halbjahr # 2018 (ungeprüft)</u>	<u>Geschäftsjahr zum 31.12.2018<sup>(2)</sup> (geprüft)</u>	<u>01.01.2018* (geprüft)</u>
	<b>Laufende Geschäftstätigkeit (in Mrd. EUR)</b>				
	Bilanzsumme	1.388,6	1.298,0	1.309,4	1.274,2*
	Kundenkredite zu fortgeführten Anschaffungskosten	438,3	427,3	447,2	417,4*
	Kundeneinlagen	412,9	415,1	416,8	410,6*
	<b>Eigenkapital (in Mrd. EUR)</b>				

Eigenkapital, Konzernanteil	623,54	59,060.4	61,0	589,49*
Minderheitenanteile	4,7	4,4	4,8	4,5*
<b>Kapitalflussrechnungen (in Mrd. EUR)</b>				
Mittelzufluss (-abfluss) von Zahlungsmitteln und Zahlungsmitteläquivalenten	(2.839)	(29.832)	(17.617)	18.023

# Diese Finanzinformationen wurden einer prüferischen Durchsicht unterzogen.

\* Die Konzernbilanz betrug insgesamt EUR 1.309 Mrd. zum 31. Dezember 2018 (EUR 1.274 Mrd. zum Januar 2018, EUR 1.275 Mrd. zum 31. Dezember 2017). Bilanzen zum 1. Januar 2018, nach der erstmaligen Anwendung von IFRS 9, außer für Tochtergesellschaften aus dem Versicherungssektor (ungeprüft).

\*\* Diese Finanzkennzahlen sind weder geprüft noch vorbehaltlich einer begrenzten Durchsicht.

(1) Bereinigt um außerordentliche Positionen und Linearisierung von IFRIC 21.

(2) Die Darstellung konsolidierten Gewinn- und Verlustrechnung der Gruppe ist ab 2018 infolge des Übergangs zu IFRS 9 modifiziert:

- Erträge und Aufwendungen aus Versicherungstätigkeiten werden in einem spezifischen Bilanzposten innerhalb des „Banknettoeinkommens“ zusammengefasst;
- Der Bilanzposten "Risikokosten" ist nun ausschließlich dem Kreditrisiko zugeordnet.

(3) Unter Berücksichtigung der Option einer Dividendenzahlung in Aktien, mit der Annahme einer 50% Zeichnungsquote (mit einer Auswirkung von +24bp auf die CET1 Quote).

~~Die Aussichten der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 31. Dezember 2018 keinen wesentlichen nachteiligen Veränderungen.~~

~~Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 30. Juni 2019 keinen wesentlichen Veränderungen.~~

[Falls die Emittentin die SG Issuer ist:

(Angaben in T€)	<u>Halbjahr 30.06.2019</u> <u>(ungeprüft)</u>	Geschäftsjahr 2018 (geprüft)	<u>Halbjahr 30.06.2018</u> <u>(ungeprüft)</u>	Geschäftsjahr 2017 (geprüft)
Gesamterträge	33.557	68.302	29.760	92.353
Ergebnis vor Steuern	350	251	148	105
Perioden-/Jahresüberschuss	263	187	126	78
<b>Gesamtaktiva</b>	<b>55.465.073</b>	<b>49.362.650</b>	<b>49.149.860</b>	<b>48.026.909</b>

(ii) In the section “ZUSAMMENFASSUNG”, Element B.12 on page 33, the item relating to the “Wesentliche Veränderungen bei Finanzlage oder Handelsposition des Emittenten, die nach dem von den historischen Finanzinformationen abgedeckten Zeitraum eingetreten sind” is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

“[Falls die Emittentin die ~~SG-Issuer oder~~ die Société Générale Effekten GmbH ist:

Nicht Anwendbar. Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 31. Dezember 2018 keinen wesentlichen Veränderungen.]”

"[Falls die Emittentin die Société Générale oder die SG Issuer ist:

Nicht Anwendbar. Die Finanzlage und die Handelsposition der Emittentin unterlagen seit dem 30. Juni 2019 keinen wesentlichen Veränderungen.]"

#### IV. CHANGES TO SECTION "DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE"

- (i) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*1.2 Documents incorporated by reference relating to SG Issuer*", paragraph 1.2.3 "*2019 Interim Financial Statements*" is added on page 110 as follows:

##### "1.2.3 2019 Interim Financial Statements

The expression "**2019 Interim Financial Statements**" means the English version of the non-audited interim financial statements of SG Issuer for the period from 1 January 2019 to 30 June 2019 prepared in accordance with international financial reporting standards (IFRS), the related appendix and notes and report of *the Réviseur d'Entreprises agréé* on review of condensed interim financial information.

The cross reference table in relation to the 2019 Interim Financial Statements appears in paragraph 2.2.3 below."

- (ii) In the section "*DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE*", in subsection "*2.2 Cross reference tables relating to SG Issuer*", paragraph 2.2.3 "*2019 Interim Financial Statements*" is added on pages 116 et seqq. is added on page 114 as follows:

##### "2.2.3 2019 Interim Financial Statements

Statement of comprehensive income	15
Statement of financial position	16
Statement of changes in equity	17
Statement of cash-flows	18
Notes to the financial statements (including accounting principles)	19 - 49
Report of the Réviseur d'Entreprises agréé	14

#### V. CHANGES TO SECTION "TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS"

- (i) In section "*TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS*" on pages 185 and 186, Condition 4.6 "*Payments subject to tax and other laws, Bail-in*" is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

##### "4.6 Payments subject to tax and other laws, Bail-in

- 4.6.1 All payments are subject in all cases to (i) any applicable ~~law, regulation~~ fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives in any jurisdiction (whether by operation of law or agreement of the relevant Issuer or its Agents) and the relevant Issuer will not be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations, directives or agreements, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 6 (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the **Code**) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto and (iii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to Section 871(m) of the Code.

No commission or expense shall be charged to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in respect of such payments but, for the avoidance of doubt, without prejudice to the option of the Calculation Agent to apply the provisions provided for ~~in the section called "Hedging Disruption,~~

~~Increased Cost of Hedging and Insolvency Filing~~", in ~~each~~the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions.

#### 4.6.2 Bail-in

- (a) If the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) exercises its Bail-in Power (as defined below) on liabilities pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I-3 of the French Monetary and Financial Code of Société Générale, ranking junior to liabilities of Société Générale that benefits from statutorily preferred exceptions pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I 1° and 2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, and senior to liabilities as defined in Article L 613-30-3-I-4 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, which results in the write-down or cancellation of all, or a portion of, the principal amount of, or outstanding amount payable in respect of, and/or interest on, such liabilities, and/or the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount of, or outstanding amount payable in respect of, or interest on, such liabilities into shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person, including by means of a variation to their terms and conditions to give effect to such exercise of Bail-in Power, then
- (i) [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] obligations to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders under the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall be limited and reduced to the amounts of principal and/or interest that would be recoverable by the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and/or the value of the shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person that would be delivered to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders if the Leveraged and Tracking Products had been directly issued by Société Générale itself, and any obligations under the Leveraged and Tracking Products had accordingly been directly subject to the exercise of the Bail-in Power, and
- (ii) [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] shall be entitled to, in lieu of payment, request the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders to seek payment, in whole or in part, of any amounts due under the Leveraged and Tracking Products subsequent to the reduction and/or delivery of any shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale subsequent to a conversion provided for at (i) above, directly from Société Générale under Société Générale's Guarantee for [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] obligations.

If and to the extent [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] requests the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders to directly seek payment and/or delivery from Société Générale under Société Générale's Guarantee for [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] obligations, [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] liabilities under the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall be deemed extinguished.

**Bail-in Power** means any statutory cancellation, write-down and/or conversion power existing from time to time under any laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms incorporated in France in effect and applicable in France to Société Générale (or any successor entity thereof), including but not limited to any such laws, regulations, rules or requirements that are implemented, adopted or enacted within the context of a European Union directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms and/or within the context of a French resolution regime under the French monetary and financial code, or any other applicable laws or regulations, as amended, or otherwise, pursuant to which obligations of a bank, banking group company, credit institution or investment firm or any of its affiliates can be reduced, cancelled and/or converted into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or any other person.

The **Relevant Resolution Authority** is any authority with the ability to exercise the Bail-in Power.

- (b) No repayment of the principal amount of the Leveraged and Tracking Products or payment of interest thereon (to the extent of the portion thereof affected by the exercise of the Bail-in Power) shall become due and payable after the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority, unless such repayment or payment would be permitted to be made by Société Générale under the laws and regulations then applicable to Société Générale under its senior unsecured liabilities if Société Générale itself was the issuer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, and the terms and

conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall be deemed to be modified accordingly.

- (c) Upon [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] becoming aware of the exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority on senior unsecured liabilities of Société Générale, [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] shall notify the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in accordance with Condition 12 (and other parties that should be notified, if applicable). Any delay or failure by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] to give notice shall not affect the effects on the Leveraged and Tracking Products described in the first paragraph.
- (d) The reduction or modification described in the first and second paragraphs above with respect to the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall not constitute an event of default and the terms and conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall continue to apply in relation to the residual principal amount of, or outstanding amount payable in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, subject to any modification of the amount of interest payable to reflect the reduction of the principal amount, and any further modification of the terms that the Relevant Resolution Authority may decide in accordance with applicable laws and regulations relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms incorporated in France.

- (ii) In section "TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE ENGLISH LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS", Condition 22 "*Acknowledgement of bail-in and write-down or conversion powers*" on pages 214 to 215 is deleted and replaced as follows:

## **"22. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF BAIL-IN AND WRITE-DOWN OR CONVERSION POWERS**

---

22.1 Acknowledgement of bail-in and write-down or conversion powers on the relevant Issuer's Liabilities and of the write-down and conversion of Leveraged and Tracking Products of [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] following the bail-in and write-down and conversion of some Société Générale's Liabilities

By the acquisition of Leveraged and Tracking Products, each Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder (which, for the purposes of this Condition 22.1, includes any current or future holder of a beneficial interest in the Leveraged and Tracking Products) acknowledges, accepts, consents and agrees:

- (1) to be bound by the effect of the exercise of the Bail-in Power (as defined below) by the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) on the relevant Issuer's liabilities under the Leveraged and Tracking Products, which may include and result in any of the following, or some combination thereof:
  - (i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the Amounts Due (as defined below), on a permanent basis;
  - (ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the Amounts Due into shares, other securities or other obligations of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person (and the issue to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder of such shares, securities or obligations), including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of the terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, in which case the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder agrees to accept in lieu of its rights under the Leveraged and Tracking Products any such shares, other securities or other obligations of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person;
  - (iii) the cancellation of the Leveraged and Tracking Products; and/or
  - (iv) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Leveraged and Tracking Products or amendment of the amount of interest payable on the Leveraged and Tracking Products, or the date on which the interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and

that terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products are subject to, and may be varied, if necessary, to give effect to the exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority or the Regulator.

(the "**Statutory Bail-in**")

and

- (2) in respect of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer], if the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) exercises its Bail-in Power (as defined below) on liabilities of Société Générale, pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I-3 of the French Monetary and Financial Code (the "**M&F Code**"):

(A) ranking:

- (i) junior to liabilities of Société Générale benefitting from statutorily preferred exceptions pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I 1° and 2 of the M&F Code;
- (ii) pari passu with liabilities of Société Générale as defined in Article L.613-30-3-I-3 of the M&F Code; and
- (iii) senior to liabilities of Société Générale as defined in Article L.613-30-3-I-4 of the M&F Code; and

(B) which are not titres non structures as defined under Article R.613-28 of the M&F Code, and

(C) which are not or are no longer eligible to be taken into account for the purposes of the MREL (as defined below) ratio of Société Générale

and such exercise of the Bail-in Power results in the write-down or cancellation of all, or a portion of, the principal amount of, or the outstanding amount payable in respect of, and/or interest on, such liabilities, and/or the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount of, or the outstanding amount payable in respect of, or interest on, such liabilities into shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person, including by means of variation to their terms and conditions in order to give effect to such exercise of Bail-in Power, to be bound by the limitation of [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] obligations to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders under the Leveraged and Tracking Products (other than Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products) to (i) payment of the amounts of principal and/or interest as reduced or cancelled that would be recoverable by the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and/or (ii) the delivery or the payment of value of the shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person that would be paid or delivered to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders if, in either case, the Leveraged and Tracking Products had been directly issued by Société Générale itself, and any Amount Due under the Leveraged and Tracking Products had accordingly been directly subject to the exercise of the Bail-in Power (the "**Contractual Bail-in**").

**For the purpose of this Condition 22:**

**Amounts Due** means the prevailing outstanding amount of the Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by the relevant Issuer, and any accrued and unpaid interest on such Leveraged and Tracking Products that has not been previously cancelled or otherwise is no longer due.

**Bail-in Power** means any statutory cancellation, write-down and/or conversion power existing from time to time under any laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms, including but not limited to any such laws, regulations, rules or requirements that are implemented, adopted or enacted within the context of a European Union directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, or any other applicable laws or regulations, as amended, or otherwise, pursuant to which obligations of a bank, banking group company, credit institution or investment firm or any of its affiliates can be reduced, cancelled and/or converted into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or any other person.

**MREL** means the Minimum Requirement for own funds and Eligible Liabilities as defined in Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (as amended from time to time).

**Relevant Resolution Authority** means any authority with the ability to exercise the Bail-in Power on Société Générale or [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] as the case may be.

## 22.2 Consequences of the Statutory Bail-in and Contractual Bail-in.

No repayment or payment of the Amounts Due will become due and payable or be paid after the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in with respect to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor unless, at the time such repayment or payment, respectively, is scheduled to become due, such repayment or payment would be permitted to be made by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor under the applicable laws and regulations in effect in France or Luxembourg and the European Union applicable to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or other members of its group.

No repayment or payment of the Amounts Due will become due and payable or be paid under the Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] after implementation of the Contractual Bail-in.

Upon the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or upon implementation of the Contractual Bail-in with respect to the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor will provide a written notice to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in accordance with Condition 12 as soon as practicable regarding such exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or implementation of the Contractual Bail-in. The relevant Issuer or the Guarantor will also deliver a copy of such notice to the Fiscal Agent for informational purposes, although the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to send such notice to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders. Any delay or failure by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor to give notice shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the Statutory Bail-in or Contractual Bail-in nor the effects on the Leveraged and Tracking Products described above.

Neither a cancellation of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, a reduction, in part or in full, of the Amounts Due, the conversion thereof into another security or obligation of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person, as a result of the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in with respect to Leveraged and Tracking Products will be an event of default or otherwise constitute non-performance of a contractual obligation, or entitle the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder to any remedies (including equitable remedies) which are hereby expressly waived.

Upon the exercise of any Statutory Bail-in or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and each Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder (including each holder of a beneficial interest in the Leveraged and Tracking Products) hereby agree that (a) the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to take any directions from Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders, and (b) the Agency Agreement shall impose no duties upon the Fiscal Agent whatsoever, in each case with respect to the exercise of any Statutory Bail-in or implementation of the Contractual Bail-in.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, following the completion of the exercise of the Statutory Bail-In or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in, any Leveraged and Tracking Products remain outstanding (for example, if the exercise of the Statutory Bail-In or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in results in only a partial write-down of the principal of the Leveraged and Tracking Products), then the Fiscal Agent's duties under the Agency Agreement shall remain applicable with respect to the Leveraged and Tracking Products following such completion to the extent that the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Fiscal Agent shall agree pursuant to an amendment to the Agency Agreement.

If in a Statutory Bail-In the Relevant Resolution Authority exercises the Bail-in Power or if the Contractual Bail-in is implemented, with respect to less than the total Amounts Due, unless the Fiscal Agent is otherwise instructed by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or, as the case may be, the Relevant Resolution Authority, any cancellation, write-off or conversion made in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products will be (in the case of a Contractual Bail-In) or may be (in the case of a Statutory Bail-in) made on a pro-rata basis.

The matters set forth in this Condition 22 shall be exhaustive on the foregoing matters to the exclusion of any other agreements, arrangements or understandings between the Issuer, the Guarantor and each Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder.

No expenses necessary for the procedures under this Condition 22, including, but not limited to, those incurred by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Fiscal Agent, shall be borne by any Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder."

**VI. CHANGES TO SECTION "TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GERMAN LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS"**

- (i) In section "*TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GERMAN LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS* " / "*EMISSIONSBEDINGUNGEN DER DEUTSCHRECHTLICHEN FAKTOR- UND PARTIZIPATIONSPRODUKTE*" on pages 232 to 235, Condition 4.2 "*Payments subject to fiscal and other laws / Zahlungen unterliegen Steuergesetzen und anderen Gesetzen, Bail-in*" is updated whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"

4.2	Payments subject to tax and other laws, Bail-in	Zahlungen unterliegen Steuergesetzen und anderen Gesetzen, Bail-in
4.2.1	All payments are subject in all cases to (i) any applicable <del>law, regulation</del> <u>fiscal or other laws, regulations</u> and directives in any jurisdiction (whether by operation of law or agreement of the relevant Issuer or its Agents) and the relevant Issuer will not be liable for any taxes or duties of whatever nature imposed or levied by such laws, regulations, directives or agreements, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 6 (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the Code) or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto and (iii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to Section 871(m) of the Code.	Sämtliche Zahlungen unterliegen in allen Fällen (i) allen anwendbaren <u>steuerlichen und sonstigen</u> Gesetzen, Vorschriften und Richtlinien in allen Jurisdiktionen (gleich ob kraft Gesetzes oder auf Grundlage einer Vereinbarung der maßgeblichen Emittentin oder ihrer Beauftragten Stellen), wobei die maßgeblichen Emittentin unbeschadet der Bestimmungen in Bedingung 6 nicht für Steuern oder Abgaben jedweder Art, die auf Grundlage entsprechender Gesetze, Vorschriften, Richtlinien oder Vereinbarungen erhoben werden, haftet und (ii) allen Einbehalten oder Abzügen, die gemäß einer Vereinbarung im Sinne von <i>Section 1471(b)</i> des US-amerikanischen <i>Internal Revenue Code</i> von 1986 (der <b>IRC</b> ) vorgeschrieben sind oder anderweitig gemäß <i>Section 1471</i> bis <i>1474 IRC</i> , Vorschriften oder Vereinbarungen in deren Rahmen, amtliche Auslegungen davon oder diesbezüglichen Umsetzungsvorschriften zur zwischenstaatlichen Zusammenarbeit erhoben werden, und (iii) allen Einbehalten oder Abzügen, die gemäß <i>Section 871(m) IRC</i> vorgeschrieben sind.
	No commission or expense shall be charged to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in respect of such payments but, for the avoidance of doubt, without prejudice to the option of the Calculation Agent to apply the provisions provided for <del>in the</del>	Den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern werden im Zusammenhang mit entsprechenden Zahlungen keine Provisionen oder Gebühren berechnet. Zur Klarstellung: Dies gilt unbeschadet der Möglichkeit der Berechnungsstelle zur Anwendung

	<p><del>section called "Hedging Disruption, Increased Cost of Hedging and Insolvency Filing", in each</del>the relevant Additional Terms and Conditions.</p>	<p>der Bestimmungen <del>im Abschnitt "Absicherungsstörung, Erhöhte Absicherungskosten und Insolvenzantrag"</del> in den maßgeblichen Zusätzlichen Emissionsbedingungen.</p>
4.2.2	<p>(a) If the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) exercises its Bail-in Power (as defined below) on liabilities pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-1-3 of the French Monetary and Financial Code of Société Générale, ranking junior to liabilities of Société Générale that benefits from statutorily preferred exceptions pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-1 1°and 2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, and senior to liabilities as defined in Article L 613-30-3-1-4 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, which results in the write-down or cancellation of all, or a portion of, the principal amount of, or outstanding amount payable in respect of, and/or interest on, such liabilities, and/or the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount of, or outstanding amount payable in respect of, or interest on, such liabilities into shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person, including by means of a variation to their terms and conditions to give effect to such exercise of Bail-in Power, then</p>	<p>(a) Falls die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde (wie nachstehend definiert) ihre Bail-in-Befugnis (wie nachstehend definiert) auf Verpflichtungen der Société Générale gemäß Artikel L 613-30-3-1-3 des französischen Währungs- und Finanzgesetzes ausübt, welche nachrangig zu den Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale sind und von gesetzlich bevorzugten Ausnahmen gemäß Artikel L 613-30-3-1 1°und 2°des französischen Währungs- und Finanzgesetzes profitieren sowie nicht nachrangig zu den Verpflichtungen sind, wie in Artikel L 613-30-3-1-4 des französischen Währungs- und Finanzgesetzes definiert, was zu einer Herabschreibung oder Entwertung des gesamten oder eines Teils des Nennbetrags dieser Verbindlichkeiten oder eines ausstehenden zahlbaren Betrags in Bezug auf, und/oder Zinsen auf diese Verbindlichkeiten und/oder einer Umwandlung des gesamten oder eines Teils des Nennbetrags dieser Verbindlichkeiten oder eines ausstehenden zahlbaren Betrags in Bezug auf, oder Zinsen auf diese Verbindlichkeiten in Aktien oder andere Wertpapiere oder sonstige Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale oder einer anderen Person führt, einschließlich mittels einer Änderung der Emissionsbedingungen zur Durchführung einer solchen Bail-in-Befugnis, dann</p>
	<p>(i) [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] obligations to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders under the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall be limited and reduced to the amounts of principal and/or interest that would be recoverable by the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and/or the value of the shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person that would be delivered to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders if the Leveraged and Tracking Products had been directly issued by Société Générale itself, and any obligations under the Leveraged and Tracking Products had accordingly been directly subject to the exercise of the Bail-in Power,</p>	<p>(i) sind die Verbindlichkeiten der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] gegenüber den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern unter den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten beschränkt und reduziert auf die Kapital- und/oder Zinsbeträge, die von den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern erzielbar wären, und/oder den Wert der Aktien oder anderer Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale oder einer anderen Person, die den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern geliefert würden, wenn die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte direkt von der Société Générale selbst begeben und alle Verbindlichkeiten unter den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten entsprechend direkt der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis unterstellt worden wären,</p>
	<p>and</p>	<p>und</p>
	<p>(ii) [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] shall be entitled to, in lieu of payment, request the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders to seek payment, in whole or in part, of any amounts due under the Leveraged and Tracking Products subsequent to the reduction and/or delivery of any shares or other</p>	<p>(ii) ist die [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] berechtigt, anstelle der Zahlung die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber aufzufordern, die Zahlung der fälligen Beträge aus den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten, insgesamt oder teilweise, nach der Reduzierung und/oder Lieferung von Aktien oder anderer</p>

	securities or other obligations of Société Générale subsequent to a conversion provided for at (i) above, directly from Société Générale under Société Générale's Guarantee for [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] obligations.	Wertpapiere oder anderer Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale im Anschluss an eine unter dem vorstehenden Abschnitt (i) genannte Umwandlung direkt von der Société Générale unter der Garantie der Société Générale für die Verbindlichkeiten der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] zu ersuchen.
	If and to the extent [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] requests the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders to directly seek payment and/or delivery from Société Générale under Société Générale's Guarantee for [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] obligations, [Société Générale Effekten GmbH's][SG Issuer's] liabilities under the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall be deemed extinguished.	Wenn und soweit die [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber dazu auffordert, die Zahlung und/oder Lieferung direkt von der Société Générale unter der Garantie der Société Générale für die Verbindlichkeiten der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] zu ersuchen, so gelten die Verbindlichkeiten der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] unter den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten als erloschen.
	<b>Bail-in Power</b> means any statutory cancellation, write-down and/or conversion power existing from time to time under any laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms <del>incorporated in France in effect and applicable in France to Société Générale (or any successor entity thereof)</del> , including but not limited to any such laws, regulations, rules or requirements that are implemented, adopted or enacted within the context of a European Union directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms <del>and/or within the context of a French resolution regime under the French monetary and financial code</del> , or any other applicable laws or regulations, as amended, or otherwise, pursuant to which obligations of a bank, banking group company, credit institution or investment firm or any of its affiliates can be reduced, cancelled and/or converted into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or any other person.	<b>Bail-in-Befugnis</b> bezeichnet eine jeweils bestehende gesetzliche Lösungs-, Herab-schreibungs- und/oder Umwandlungsbefugnis aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen in Bezug auf die Sanierung von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen, insbesondere aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen, die im Zusammenhang mit einer EU-Richtlinie oder EU-Verordnung des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates zur Festlegung eines Rahmens für die Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Wertpapierfirmen oder anderen anwendbaren Gesetzen oder Vorschriften in der jeweils geltenden Fassung oder anderen Bestimmungen, nach denen die Verbindlichkeiten von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen oder deren verbundenen Unternehmen herab-geschrieben, gelöscht und/oder in Aktien oder andere Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten des Schuldners oder einer anderen Person umgewandelt werden können, umgesetzt, beschlossen oder verabschiedet werden.
	The <b>Relevant Resolution Authority</b> is any authority with the ability to exercise the Bail-in Power.	Die <b>Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde</b> ist eine Behörde, die zur Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis berechtigt ist.
	(b) No repayment of the principal amount of the Leveraged and Tracking Products or payment of interest thereon (to the extent of the portion thereof affected by the exercise of the Bail-in Power) shall become due and payable after the exercise of any Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority, unless such repayment or payment would be permitted to be made by Société Générale under the laws and regulations then applicable to Société Générale under its senior unsecured liabilities if Société Générale itself was the issuer of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, and the terms and conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall be deemed to be modified	(b) Nach Ausübung einer Bail-in-Befugnis durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde ist die Rückzahlung des Nennwerts der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte oder die Zahlung von Zinsen auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte (im Umfang des von der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis betroffenen Anteils der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte) nicht fällig und zahlbar, es sei denn, eine solche Rückzahlung oder Zahlung durch die Société Générale unter ihren erstrangigen unbesicherten Verbindlichkeiten wäre nach den zu diesem Zeitpunkt für die Société Générale geltenden Gesetzen und Verordnungen zulässig, sofern die Société Générale selbst die Emittentin der

	accordingly.	Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ist, und die Emissionsbedingungen der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte als entsprechend geändert gelten.
	(c) Upon [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] becoming aware of the exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority on senior unsecured liabilities of Société Générale, [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] shall notify the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in accordance with Condition 12 (and other parties that should be notified, if applicable). Any delay or failure by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] to give notice shall not affect the effects on the Leveraged and Tracking Products described in the first paragraph.	(c) Nachdem die [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] von der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde auf erstrangige unbesicherte Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale Kenntnis erhalten hat, benachrichtigt die [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber nach Maßgabe von Bedingung 12 (sowie gegebenenfalls andere zu benachrichtigende Parteien). Eine Verzögerung oder Unterlassung der Mitteilung durch die [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] beeinträchtigt nicht die im ersten Absatz beschriebenen Auswirkungen auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte.
	(d) The reduction or modification described in the first and second paragraphs above with respect to the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall not constitute an event of default and the terms and conditions of the Leveraged and Tracking Products shall continue to apply in relation to the residual principal amount of, or outstanding amount payable in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, subject to any modification of the amount of interest payable to reflect the reduction of the principal amount, and any further modification of the terms that the Relevant Resolution Authority may decide in accordance with applicable laws and regulations relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms incorporated in France.	(d) Die vorstehend im ersten und zweiten Absatz beschriebene Reduzierung oder Änderung im Hinblick auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte stellt kein Kündigungsgrund dar und die Emissionsbedingungen der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte gelten weiterhin in Bezug auf den verbleibenden Nennbetrag bzw. den ausstehenden zahlbaren Betrag bezüglich der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, vorbehaltlich einer Änderung des Betrags der zahlbaren Zinsen zur Berücksichtigung der Reduzierung des Nennbetrags und weiterer Änderungen der Bedingungen, die die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde möglicherweise gemäß den geltenden Gesetzen und Verordnungen in Bezug auf die Abwicklung von in Frankreich ansässigen Banken, Bankkonzernen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Investmentunternehmen beschließt.

"

- (ii) In section "*TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE GERMAN LAW LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS*" / "*EMISSIONSBEDINGUNGEN DER DEUTSCHRECHTLICHEN FAKTOR- UND PARTIZIPATIONSPRODUKTE*", Condition 22 "*Acknowledgement of bail-in and write-down or conversion powers*" on pages 286 to 290 is deleted and replaced as follows:

"

<b>22.</b>	<b>Acknowledgement of Bail-In and Write-Down or Conversion Powers</b>	<b>Anerkennung der Bail-In- und Abschreibungs- oder Umwandlungsbefugnisse</b>
22.1	Acknowledgement of bail-in and write-down or conversion powers on the relevant Issuer's Liabilities and of the write-down and conversion of Leveraged and Tracking Products of [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] following the bail-in and write-down and conversion of some Société Générale's Liabilities	Anerkennung der Bail-in- und Abschreibungs- oder Umwandlungsbefugnisse auf die Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin sowie der Abschreibung und Umwandlung von Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] nach dem Bail-In und der Abschreibung und Umwandlung von einigen Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale.
	By the acquisition of Leveraged and Tracking Products, each Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder (which, for the purposes of this Condition 22.1, includes any current or future holder of a	Mit dem Erwerb der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte erkennt jeder Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber (wobei zu Zwecken dieser Bedingung 22.1 dieser Begriff jeden

	beneficial interest in the Leveraged and Tracking Products) acknowledges, accepts, consents and agrees:	gegenwärtigen oder zukünftigen Inhaber von Nutzungsrechten an den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten umfasst) an, akzeptiert, willigt ein und stimmt zu,
	(1) to be bound by the effect of the exercise of the Bail-in Power (as defined below) by the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) on the relevant Issuer's liabilities under the Leveraged and Tracking Products, which may include and result in any of the following, or some combination thereof:	(1) an die Wirkung der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis (wie nachstehend definiert) durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde (wie nachstehend definiert) auf die Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin unter den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten gebunden zu sein, was möglicherweise Folgendes umfasst und zu Folgendem (oder einer Kombination dessen) führen kann:
	(i) the reduction of all, or a portion, of the Amounts Due (as defined below), on a permanent basis;	(i) die dauerhafte Herabsetzung aller, oder eines Teils der Fälligen Beträge (wie nachstehend definiert);
	(ii) the conversion of all, or a portion, of the Amounts Due into shares, other securities or other obligations of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person (and the issue to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder of such shares, securities or obligations), including by means of an amendment, modification or variation of the terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, in which case the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder agrees to accept in lieu of its rights under the Leveraged and Tracking Products any such shares, other securities or other obligations of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person;	(ii) die Umwandlung aller, oder eines Teils, der Fälligen Beträge in Aktien, andere Wertpapiere oder andere Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin oder der Garantin oder einer anderen Person (und die Ausgabe dieser Aktien, Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten an die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber), unter anderem mittels Ergänzung, Modifizierung oder Abwandlung der Bedingungen der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte; in diesem Fall akzeptiert der Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber solche Aktien, andere Wertpapiere oder andere Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin oder der Garantin oder einer anderen Person an Stelle seiner Rechte aus den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten.
	(iii) the cancellation of the Leveraged and Tracking Products; and/or	(iii) die Stornierung der Schuldverschreibungen; und/oder
	(iv) the amendment or alteration of the maturity of the Leveraged and Tracking Products or amendment of the amount of interest payable on the Leveraged and Tracking Products, or the date on which the interest becomes payable, including by suspending payment for a temporary period; and	(iv) die Ergänzung oder Änderung der Fälligkeit der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte oder die Änderung des Betrags der auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte zahlbaren Zinsen, oder des Tags, an dem die Zinsen zahlbar werden, unter anderem durch vorübergehende Aussetzung der Zahlung; und
	that terms of the Leveraged and Tracking Products are subject to, and may be varied, if necessary, to give effect to the exercise of the Bail-in Power by the Relevant Resolution Authority or the Regulator.	dass die Bedingungen der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde oder Aufsichtsbehörde unterliegen und, falls erforderlich, geändert werden können, um der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis durch die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde oder Aufsichtsbehörde Wirkung zu verleihen
	(the " <b>Statutory Bail-in</b> ")	(der " <b>Gesetzliche Bail-in</b> ")
	and	und
	(2) in respect of Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer], if the Relevant Resolution Authority (as defined below) exercises its Bail-in Power (as defined below) on liabilities of	(2) bei von der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] begebenen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten, wenn die Zuständige Abwicklungsbehörde (wie nachstehend definiert) ihre Bail-in-Befugnis (wie nachstehend

	Société Générale, pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I-3 of the French Monetary and Financial Code (the " <b>M&amp;F Code</b> "):	definiert) in Bezug auf Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale gemäß Artikel L613-30-3-I-3 des französischen Währungs- und Finanzgesetzbuchs ( <i>Code monétaire et financier</i> , <b>CMF</b> ) ausübt:
	(A) ranking:	(A) die im Rang:
	(i) junior to liabilities of Société Générale benefitting from statutorily preferred exceptions pursuant to Article L 613-30-3-I 1°and 2 of the M&F Code;	(i) Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale, denen aufgrund gesetzlich vorgesehener Ausnahmen gemäß Artikel L 613-30-3-I 1°und 2 des CMF ein Vorrang eingeräumt wird, nachgeordnet sind;
	(ii) pari passu with liabilities of Société Générale as defined in Article L.613-30-3-I-3 of the M&F Code; and	(ii) Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale gemäß Definition in Artikel L.613-30-3-I-3 des CMF gleichwertig sind und
	(iii) senior to liabilities of Société Générale as defined in Article L.613-30-3-I-4 of the M&F Code; and	(iii) Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale gemäß Definition in Artikel L.613-30-3-I-4 des CMF vorgeordnet sind; und
	(B) which are not titres non structures as defined under Article R.613-28 of the M&F Code, and	(B) bei denen es sich nicht um titres non structurés im Sinne von Artikel R.613-28 des CMF handelt und
	(C) which are not or are no longer eligible to be taken into account for the purposes of the MREL (as defined below) ratio of Société Générale	(C) die für die Zwecke der MREL-Quote (wie nachstehend definiert) der Société Générale nicht oder nicht mehr berücksichtigungsfähig sind,
	and such exercise of the Bail-in Power results in the write-down or cancellation of all, or a portion of, the principal amount of, or the outstanding amount payable in respect of, and/or interest on, such liabilities, and/or the conversion of all, or a portion, of the principal amount of, or the outstanding amount payable in respect of, or interest on, such liabilities into shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person, including by means of variation to their terms and conditions in order to give effect to such exercise of Bail-in Power, to be bound by the limitation of [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer's] obligations to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders under the Leveraged and Tracking Products (other than Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products) to (i) payment of the amounts of principal and/or interest as reduced or cancelled that would be recoverable by the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders and/or (ii) the delivery or the payment of value of the shares or other securities or other obligations of Société Générale or another person that would be paid or delivered to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders if, in either case, the Leveraged and Tracking Products had been directly issued by Société Générale itself, and any Amount Due under the Leveraged and Tracking Products had accordingly been directly subject to the exercise of the Bail-in Power (the " <b>Contractual Bail-in</b> ").	und diese Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis zur vollständigen oder teilweisen Herabschreibung oder Löschung des Nennwerts oder des ausstehenden Restbetrags dieser Verbindlichkeiten und/oder darauf anfallender Zinsen und/oder zur vollständigen oder teilweisen Umwandlung des Nennwerts oder des ausstehenden Restbetrags dieser Verbindlichkeiten oder darauf anfallender Zinsen in Aktien oder andere Wertpapiere oder sonstige Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale oder einer anderen Person führt (wozu auch die Änderung ihrer Geschäftsbedingungen gehört, um diese Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis wirksam werden zu lassen), an die Einschränkung der Verpflichtungen der [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] gegenüber den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern aus den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten (mit Ausnahme Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte) (i) zur Zahlung der verminderten oder gelöschten Kapital- und/oder Zinsbeträge, die von den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern erzielbar wären, und/oder (ii) zur Lieferung oder Zahlung des Werts der Aktien oder anderen Wertpapiere oder sonstigen Verbindlichkeiten der Société Générale oder einer anderen Person, der an die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber gezahlt oder geliefert würde, wenn die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte jeweils direkt von der Société Générale begeben worden wären und Fällige Beträge aus den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten folglich direkt von der Ausübung der Bail-in-Befugnis betroffen gewesen wären (der " <b>Vertragliche Bail-In</b> "),

		gebunden zu sein.
	<b>For the purpose of this Condition 22:</b>	<b>Zu Zwecken dieser Bedingung 22:</b>
	<b>Amounts Due</b> means the prevailing outstanding amount of the Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by the relevant Issuer, and any accrued and unpaid interest on such Leveraged and Tracking Products that has not been previously cancelled or otherwise is no longer due.	<b>Fällige Beträge</b> bezeichnet den aktuellen ausstehenden Betrag der von der maßgeblichen Emittentin begebenen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte sowie alle aufgelaufenen und nicht gezahlten Zinsen auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, der nicht zuvor annulliert oder in anderer Weise nicht länger fällig ist.
	<b>Bail-in Power</b> means any statutory cancellation, write-down and/or conversion power existing from time to time under any laws, regulations, rules or requirements relating to the resolution of banks, banking group companies, credit institutions and/or investment firms, including but not limited to any such laws, regulations, rules or requirements that are implemented, adopted or enacted within the context of a European Union directive or regulation of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms, or any other applicable laws or regulations, as amended, or otherwise, pursuant to which obligations of a bank, banking group company, credit institution or investment firm or any of its affiliates can be reduced, cancelled and/or converted into shares or other securities or obligations of the obligor or any other person.	<b>Bail-in-Befugnis</b> bezeichnet eine jeweils bestehende gesetzliche Lösungs-, Herab-schreibungs- und/oder Umwandlungsbefugnis aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen in Bezug auf die Sanierung von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen, insbesondere aufgrund von Gesetzen, Vorschriften, Regeln oder Anforderungen, die im Zusammenhang mit einer EU-Richtlinie oder EU-Verordnung des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates zur Festlegung eines Rahmens für die Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Wertpapierfirmen oder anderen anwendbaren Gesetzen oder Vorschriften in der jeweils geltenden Fassung oder anderen Bestimmungen, nach denen die Verbindlichkeiten von Banken, Unternehmen von Institutsgruppen, Kreditinstituten und/oder Wertpapierfirmen oder deren verbundenen Unternehmen herabgeschrieben, gelöscht und/oder in Aktien oder andere Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten des Schuldners oder einer anderen Person umgewandelt werden können, umgesetzt, beschlossen oder verabschiedet werden.
	<b>MREL</b> means the Minimum Requirement for own funds and Eligible Liabilities as defined in Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of credit institutions and investment firms (as amended from time to time).	<b>MREL</b> bezeichnet die Mindestanforderung an Eigenmittel und berücksichtigungsfähige Verbindlichkeiten gemäß Definition in der Richtlinie 2014/59/EU des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 15. Mai 2014 zur Festlegung eines Rahmens für die Sanierung und Abwicklung von Kreditinstituten und Wertpapierfirmen (in der jeweils geltenden Fassung).
	<b>Relevant Resolution Authority</b> means any authority with the ability to exercise the Bail-in Power on Société Générale or [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] as the case may be.	<b>Zuständige Abwicklungsbehörde</b> bezeichnet eine Behörde, die die Bail-in-Befugnis gegenüber der Société Générale oder [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] ausüben kann.
22.2	Consequences of the Statutory Bail-in and Contractual Bail-in.	Folgen des Gesetzlichen Bail-in und des Vertraglichen Bail-in.
	No repayment or payment of the Amounts Due will become due and payable or be paid after the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in with respect to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor unless, at the time such repayment or payment, respectively, is scheduled to become due, such repayment or payment would be permitted to be made by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor under the applicable laws and regulations in effect in France or Luxembourg and the European Union applicable to the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or other members of its group.	Nach der Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in in Bezug auf die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin wird keine Rückzahlung oder Zahlung der Fälligen Beträge fällig und zahlbar bzw. wird keine solche Rückzahlung oder Zahlung geleistet, es sei denn, zu dem Zeitpunkt, an dem die Fälligkeit einer solchen Rückzahlung bzw. Zahlung vorgesehen ist, wäre eine solche Rückzahlung oder Zahlung durch die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin nach den in Frankreich oder Luxemburg und der Europäischen Union geltenden Gesetzen und Verordnungen, die auf die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin oder andere Mitglieder ihrer Gruppe anwendbar sind, zulässig.
	No repayment or payment of the Amounts Due will become due and payable or be paid under the	Nach der Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in wird aus den von der [Société Générale Effekten

	Leveraged and Tracking Products issued by [Société Générale Effekten GmbH][SG Issuer] after implementation of the Contractual Bail-in.	GmbH][SG Issuer] begebenen Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten keine Rückzahlung oder Zahlung der Fälligen Beträge fällig und zahlbar bzw. wird keine solche Rückzahlung oder Zahlung geleistet.
	Upon the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or upon implementation of the Contractual Bail-in with respect to the Leveraged and Tracking Products, the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor will provide a written notice to the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders in accordance with Condition 12 as soon as practicable regarding such exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or implementation of the Contractual Bail-in. The relevant Issuer or the Guarantor will also deliver a copy of such notice to the Fiscal Agent for informational purposes, although the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to send such notice to Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders. Any delay or failure by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor to give notice shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the Statutory Bail-in or Contractual Bail-in nor the effects on the Leveraged and Tracking Products described above.	Bei Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder bei Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in in Bezug auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte wird die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber so bald wie möglich diese Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-In gemäß Bedingung 12 schriftlich mitteilen. Die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin wird zudem eine Kopie dieser Mitteilung der Emissionsstelle zu Informationszwecken übermitteln, die Emissionsstelle hingegen ist nicht verpflichtet, eine solche Mitteilung an die Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber zu senden. Ein Verzug bzw. eine Unterlassung durch die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin, eine solche Mitteilung abzugeben, beeinträchtigt weder nicht die Gültigkeit und Durchsetzbarkeit des Gesetzlichen Bail-in bzw. des Vertraglichen Bail-in noch die vorstehend beschriebenen Auswirkungen auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte.
	Neither a cancellation of the Leveraged and Tracking Products, a reduction, in part or in full, of the Amounts Due, the conversion thereof into another security or obligation of the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or another person, as a result of the exercise of the Statutory Bail-in or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in with respect to Leveraged and Tracking Products will be an event of default or otherwise constitute non-performance of a contractual obligation, or entitle the Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder to any remedies (including equitable remedies) which are hereby expressly waived.	Weder die Annullierung der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte, noch eine Herabschreibung, teilweise oder insgesamt, der Fälligen Beträge, eine Umwandlung dieser in andere Wertpapiere oder Verbindlichkeiten der maßgeblichen Emittentin oder der Garantin oder einer anderen Person infolge einer Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in in Bezug auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte ist ein Kündigungsereignis oder stellt anderweitig eine Nichterfüllung einer vertraglichen Verpflichtung dar, oder berechtigt den Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber zur Einlegung von Rechtsmitteln (einschließlich billigerrechtliche Rechtsmittel), auf die hiermit ausdrücklich verzichtet wird.
	Upon the exercise of any Statutory Bail-in or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in, the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and each Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder (including each holder of a beneficial interest in the Leveraged and Tracking Products) hereby agree that (a) the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to take any directions from Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders, and (b) the Agency Agreement shall impose no duties upon the Fiscal Agent whatsoever, in each case with respect to the exercise of any Statutory Bail-in or implementation of the Contractual Bail-in.	Bei Ausübung eines Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder bei Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in stimmen die maßgebliche Emittentin, die Garantin und jeder Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber (einschließlich jeder Inhaber von Nutzungsrechten an den Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten) hiermit überein, dass (a) die Emissionsstelle keinem Weisungsrecht der Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber unterliegt und (b) der Zahlstellenvertrag der Emissionsstelle keine Pflichten irgendwelcher Art auferlegt, in jedem Fall im Hinblick auf die Ausübung eines Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in.
	Notwithstanding the foregoing, if, following the completion of the exercise of the Statutory Bail-In or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in, any Leveraged and Tracking Products remain outstanding (for example, if the exercise of the Statutory Bail-In or the implementation of the Contractual Bail-in results in only a partial write-down of the principal of the Leveraged and Tracking Products), then the Fiscal Agent's duties under the Agency Agreement shall remain applicable with respect to the Leveraged and Tracking Products	Ungeachtet des Vorstehenden, falls nach Abschluss der Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder der Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in, Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte weiterhin ausstehend sind (zum Beispiel, falls die Ausübung des Gesetzlichen Bail-in oder die Umsetzung des Vertraglichen Bail-in nur zu einer Teilabschreibung des Kapitals der Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte führt), so gelten die Pflichten der Emissionsstelle unter dem Zahlstellenvertrag im Hinblick auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte nach diesem Abschluss fort

	following such completion to the extent that the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Fiscal Agent shall agree pursuant to an amendment to the Agency Agreement.	und zwar in dem Maße, wie die maßgebliche Emittentin, die Garantin und die Emissionsstelle dies gemäß einer Ergänzung zum Verwaltungsstellenvertrag vereinbaren.
	If in a Statutory Bail-In the Relevant Resolution Authority exercises the Bail-in Power or if the Contractual Bail-in is implemented, with respect to less than the total Amounts Due, unless the Fiscal Agent is otherwise instructed by the relevant Issuer or the Guarantor or, as the case may be, the Relevant Resolution Authority, any cancellation, write-off or conversion made in respect of the Leveraged and Tracking Products will be (in the case of a Contractual Bail-In) or may be (in the case of a Statutory Bail-in) made on a pro-rata basis.	Falls bei einem Gesetzlichen Bail-in die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde die Bail-in-Befugnis (oder falls der Vertragliche Bail-in umgesetzt wird) nicht im Hinblick auf die gesamten Fälligen Beträge ausübt, erfolgt (im Falle eines Vertraglichen Bail-in) jede Annullierung, Herabschreibung oder Umwandlung im Hinblick auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte anteilmäßig oder (im Falle eines Gesetzlichen Bail-in) kann jede Annullierung, Herabschreibung oder Umwandlung im Hinblick auf die Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte anteilmäßig erfolgen, sofern die Emissionsstelle nicht anderweitig durch die maßgebliche Emittentin oder die Garantin bzw. die Maßgebliche Abwicklungsbehörde angewiesen ist.
	The matters set forth in this Condition 22 shall be exhaustive on the foregoing matters to the exclusion of any other agreements, arrangements or understandings between the Issuer, the Guarantor and each Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder.	Die in dieser Bedingung 22 dargelegten Angelegenheiten sind abschließend in Bezug auf die vorstehenden Angelegenheiten unter Ausschluss anderer Verträge, Vereinbarungen oder Abreden zwischen der Emittentin, der Garantin und jedem Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber.
	No expenses necessary for the procedures under this Condition 22, including, but not limited to, those incurred by the relevant Issuer, the Guarantor and the Fiscal Agent, shall be borne by any Leveraged and Tracking Product Holder.	Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber tragen keine für die Verfahren unter dieser Bedingung 22 notwendigen Aufwendungen, einschließlich, jedoch nicht beschränkt auf, die Aufwendungen, die der maßgeblichen Emittentin, der Garantin und der Emissionsstelle entstehen.

"

## VII. CHANGES TO SECTION "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING TO SECURED LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS"

In section "ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS RELATING SECURED LEVERAGED AND TRACKING PRODUCTS" / "ZUSÄTZLICHE EMISSIONSBEDINGUNGEN FÜR BESICHERTE FAKTOR- UND PARTIZIPATIONSPRODUKTE", the two last paragraphs of Condition 2.3.2 "*Multiple Series Collateral Pool*" are modified on page 495 whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

"

2.3.2	Multiple Series Collateral Pool	Sicherheitenpool für Mehrere Serien
	Where the applicable Final Terms in respect of a Series of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products specify that the Type of Collateral Pool is " <i>Multiple Series Collateral Pool</i> ", such Series of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products may be secured by a Collateral Pool which secures one or more Series of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products (a <b>Multiple Series Collateral Pool</b> ).	Ist in den anwendbaren Endgültigen Bedingungen in Bezug auf eine Serie Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte „ <i>Sicherheitenpool für Mehrere Serien</i> “ als Art des Sicherheitenpools angegeben, kann die betreffende Serie Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte durch einen Sicherheitenpool besichert werden, mit dem eine oder mehrere Serien Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte besichert werden (ein <b>Sicherheitenpool für Mehrere Serien</b> ).
	Each Series of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products secured pursuant to a Multiple Series Collateral Pool must (i) be subject to the same governing law, (ii) be subject to the same method of distribution of Collateral Assets following enforcement of the relevant Security Document (i.e. exclusively either subject to " <i>Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets</i> " or not subject to " <i>Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets</i> "), (iii) be subject to the same Eligibility Criteria and Collateral Rules, (iv) be subject to the same Haircut value(s) for each type or	Jede im Rahmen eines Sicherheitenpools für Mehrere Serien besicherte Serie Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte muss (i) demselben anwendbaren Recht unterliegen, (ii) demselben Verfahren für die Auskehrung von Sicherungswerten nach der Durchsetzung des maßgeblichen Sicherheitendokuments unterliegen (d.h. dass „ <i>Physische Lieferung von Sicherungswerten</i> “ entweder ausschließlich gilt oder ausschließlich nicht gilt), (iii) denselben Zulässigkeitskriterien und Sicherheitenbestimmungen unterliegen, (iv) demselben Preisabschlag bzw. demselben

	class of Eligible Collateral Assets, and (v) have the same Collateral Test Dates.	Preisabschlägen je Art oder Kategorie Zulässiger Sicherungswerte unterliegen und (v) dieselben Sicherheitentest-Termine haben.
	In case of such a scenario, following enforcement of the relevant Security Document, all Series of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products secured on such Collateral Pool would share in the distribution of the proceeds of realisation of the Collateral Assets constituting such Collateral Pool or Leveraged and Tracking Products or, where the clause "Physical Delivery of Collateral Assets" is specified as applicable in the applicable Final Terms, in the delivery of the Collateral Assets contained in such Collateral Pool <a href="#">pursuant to the Collateralisation Percentage applicable to each Series of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products</a> .	In einem solchen Szenario würden nach Durchsetzung des maßgeblichen Sicherheitendokuments sämtliche durch diesen Sicherheitenpool besicherte Serien Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte an der Ausschüttung der Erlöse aus der Verwertung der den betreffenden Sicherheitenpool bildenden Sicherungswerte oder Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte oder – falls „Physische Lieferung von Sicherheiten“ in den anwendbaren Endgültigen Bedingungen als anwendbar angegeben ist –, an der Lieferung der in dem betreffenden Sicherheitenpool enthaltenen Sicherungswerte <a href="#">gemäß dem für jede Serie von Besicherten Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukten geltenden Besicherungsprozentsatz</a> beteiligt.
	Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders acquiring and holding Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products in relation to a Multiple Series Collateral Pool will be deemed to acknowledge, accept and agree to the rights of existing and future Leveraged and Tracking Product Holders of different Series of Secured Leveraged and Tracking Products to share <a href="#">equally rateably</a> in the security created over the Collateral Assets in the Multiple Series Collateral Pool.	Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhabern, die Besicherte Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte in Verbindung mit einem Sicherheitenpool für Mehrere Serien erwerben und halten, wird unterstellt, dass sie die Rechte bestehender und künftiger Faktor- und Partizipationsproduktinhaber anderer Serien Besicherter Faktor- und Partizipationsprodukte auf <a href="#">gleichberechtigte anteilige</a> Beteiligung an den Sicherheiten, die an den Sicherungswerten in dem Sicherheitenpool für Mehrere Serien bestellt sind, anerkennen und ihr Einverständnis dazu erklären.

"

## VIII. CHANGES TO SECTION "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER"

- (i) In section "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER" paragraph 2 "Selected Financial Information" on page 533 is deleted and replaced as follows:

"

### 2. SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Figures prepared in accordance with IFRS at 30 June 2019.

(in K€)	Half year 30.06.2019 (non audited)	Year ended 2018 (audited)	Half year 30.06.2018 (non audited)	Year ended 2017 (audited)
Total Revenue	33,557	68,302	29,760	92,353
Profit before tax	350	251	148	105
Profit for the financial period/year	263	187	126	78
Total Assets	55,465,073	49,362,650	49,149,860	48,026,909

"

- (ii) In section "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER" paragraph 11.4 "Interim and other financial information" on page 534 is modified as follows, whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

#### "11.4 Interim and other financial information

Since the date of its last audited financial statements, SG Issuer has ~~not~~ published interim ~~financial statements or other~~ financial statements as of 30 June 2019."

- (iv) In section "DESCRIPTION OF SG ISSUER" paragraph 11.6 "Significant change in the financial or trading position" on page 534 is modified as follows, whereby words printed in blue and underlined are added and words in ~~red and strikethrough~~ are deleted:

#### "11.6 Significant change in the financial or trading position

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of SG Issuer since 30 June 2019~~31 December 2018.~~"

## **DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE**

Copies of this Supplement and the documents incorporated by reference can be obtained, without charge, from the head office of each Issuer and the specified office of each of the Paying Agents, in each case, at the address given at the end of the Base Prospectus.

This Supplement and the documents incorporated by reference will be published on the websites of:

- the Luxembourg Stock Exchange ([www.bourse.lu](http://www.bourse.lu)) and
- the Issuers (<http://prospectus.socgen.com>)

## **RESPONSIBILITY**

To the best of the knowledge and belief of each Issuer and the Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Supplement is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information and, save as disclosed in this Supplement, no other significant new factor, material mistake or inaccuracy relating to information included in or incorporated into the Base Prospectus has arisen or been noted, as the case may be, since the publication of the Base Prospectus and any other previously approved supplements to the Base Prospectus.

Each Issuer and the Guarantor accept responsibility accordingly for the information contained in this Supplement.